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1 China Communications Construction Co Ltd H 7.1
2 China Construction Bank Corp H 7.0
3 China Mobile Ltd 6.8
4 Bank of China Ltd H 6.7
5 CITIC Securities Co Ltd H 6.6
6 CRRC Corp Ltd H 5.5
7 China Southern Airlines Co Ltd H 4.7
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10 China Merchants Port Holdings Co Ltd 4.0
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2022 92,312,491 12,381,874 45287 60,743
94,481,309 12,672,778 463.51 62,171
88,754,900 11,904,695 435.41 58,402
87,383,937 11,720,807 428.69 57,500
76,987,100 10,326,280 377.68 50,659
10 71,698,769 9,616,956 351.74 47,179
11 87,685,365 11,761,238 430.17 57,699
12 88,693,546 11,896,465 436.18 58,505
2023 95,640,592 12,828,273 470.35 63,088
91,655,983 12,293,817 450.75 60,459
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2022 12 31
2022 2021
CCMF
2022 65,863,670
2021 67,780,861 7 88,448,969 11,863,660 100,307,212 13,454,206
457 61
2 386,267 51,810 397,915 53,372
181,870 24,394
89,017,563 11,939,926 100,705,127 13,507,579
32,800 4,399 13,125 1,760
4 73,137 9,810 82,760 11,101
218,080 29,251
324,017 43,460 95,885 12,861
88,603,546 11,896,465 100,609, 242 13,494,718
5 203,340 207,410
11 436.18 58,505 485.07 65,062
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2022 2021
5,114,300 685,981 3,664,332 491,497
(338,933) (45,461) (246,679) (33,087)
824 111 123 16
(235,654) (31,608) (250,548) (33,606)
4,540,537 609,022 3,167,228 424,820
(897,864) (120,430) (1,015,128) (136,159)
(25) (©) (25) (©)
(47,727) (6,402) (51,586) (6,919)
(12,000) (1,610) (12,000) (1,610)
(13,018) (1,746) (13,058) (1,751)
1,528 205 4 1
(969, 106) (129,986) (1,091,793) (146,442)
3,571,431 479,036 2,075,435 278,378
(69,501) 9,322) 8,823,775 1,183,533
(13,555,397) (1,818,185) 3,049,847 409,076
(8,286) (1,111) (70,219) (9,418)
(13,633,184) (1,828,619) 11,803,403 1,583,190
19 3 (63) )
19 3 (63) ©)
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(969, 106) (129,986) (1,091,793) (146,442)
19 3 (63) ®)
(13,633,184) (1,828,619) 11,803,403 1,583,190
(10,061,734) (1,349,580) 13,878,775 1,861,560
5 (1,853,962) (248,672) (2,276,658) (305,368)
(1,853,962) (248,672) (2,276,658) (305,368)
(11,915,696) (1,598,252) 11,602,117 1,556,192
100,609, 242 13,494,718 89,007,125 11,938,526
88,693,546 11,896,465 100,609, 242 13,494,718
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(10,061,734) (1,349,580) 13,878,775 1,861,560
11,858,243 1,590,546 (11,791,874)  (1,581,644)
(181,870) (24,394)
457) (61)
19,675 2,639 (2,025) 72)
(9,623) (1,291) 9,745 1,307
1,624,234 217,859 2,094,621 280,952
5 (1,635,882) (219,421) (2,276,658) (305,368)
(1,635,882) (219,421) (2,276,658) (305,368)
(11,648) (1,562) (182,037) (24,417)
397,915 53,372 579,952 77,789
386,267 51,810 397,915 53,372
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ASU 2016-13 326
ASU 2016-13 2022 12 16
2018 12 16
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2019 12 FASB ASU 2019-12 740
740
740 GAAP
2021 12 16
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2022 12 31 2021 12 31
FASB ASC 946
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3.
4
2022 12 31 2021 12 31
25,000
4.
2022 12 31 897,864 2021 1,015,128
2022 12 31 73,137 2021 82,760
100
10 2022 12 31 2021
12 31 2022 12 31 2021 12 31
12,000
2022 12 31 12,000 2021
12,000 2022 12 31 1,000 2021 1,000
5.
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207,410 212,182
(4,070) (4,772)
(4,070) (4,772)
203,340 207,410
2022

4,070 2021 4,772

2022 2021
1,853,962 2,276,658
(218,080)
1,635,882 2,276,658
50
2004 2022



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 12 31
2021

7.
2022 12 31 2021 12 31
2022 12 31 2021 12 31
8.
9.

10.

50/203



11.

12.

2022 12 31

51/203

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 2021
485.07 419.48
(4.74) (5.24)
(44.15) 70.83
(48.89) 65.59
436.18 485.07
(10.08 ) 15.64
0.00 0.00
(10.08 ) 15.64
1.08 1.08
0.00 0.00
1.08 1.08
(1.08 ) (1.08 )
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2022 12 31
2022 2021
2022 :117,428,427
2021 112,033,802 ) 7 88,194,390 11,829,514 96,355,162 12,924,118
2 450,924 60,482 3,862,040 518,015
32,433 4,350 113,647 15,243
88,677,747 11,894,346 100,330,849 13,457,377
46,908 6,292 23,637 3,170
181,870 24,394
228,778 30,686 23,637 3,170
88,448,969 11,863,660 100,307,212 13,454,206
5 486,315 501,500
11 181.88 24,396 200.01 26,827
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2022 12 31

2022 2021
5,114,300 685,981 3,664,332 491,497
6 (338,933) (45,461) (246,679) (33,087)
824 111 123 16
4,776,191 640,630 3,417,776 458,426
4 134,190 17,999 151,382 20,305
26,614 3,570 26,186 3,512
37,409 5,018 31,900 4,279
4 860 115 3,500 469
4 20,642 2,769 20,000 2,683
15,939 2,138 17,580 2,358
235,654 31,608 250,548 33,606
4,540,537 609,022 3,167,228 424,820
(69,501) (9,322) 8,823,775 1,183,533
(13,555,397) (1,818,185) 3,049,847 409,076
(8,286) (1,111) (70,219) (9,418)
(13,633,184) (1,828,619) 11,803,403 1,583,190
(9,092,647) (1,219,597) 14,970,631 2,008,011
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2022 2021

4,540,537 609,022 3,167,228 424,820
(69,501) (9,322) 8,823,775 1,183,533
(13,555,397) (1,818,185) 3,049,847 409,076
(8,286) (1,111) (70,219) (9,418)
(9,092,647) (1,219,597) 14,970,631 2,008,011
(2,765,596) (370,949) (3.178,757) (426,367)
(2,765,596) (370,949) (3.,178,757) (426,367)
(11,858,243) (1,590,546) 11,791,874 1,581,644
100,307,212 13,454,206 88,515,338 11,872,562
88,448,969 11,863,660 100,307,212 13,454,206
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2022 12 31
2022 2021
(9,092,647) (1,219,597) 14,970,631 2,008,011
(7,490,618) (1,004,717) (24,846,642) (3,332,680)
2,026,492 271,813 16,797,597 2,253,062
69,501 9,322 (8,823,775) (1,183,533)
13,555,397 1,818,185 (3,049,847) (409,076)
81,214 10,893 (95,304) (12,783)
23,271 3,121 (1,847) (248)
(827,390) (110,978) (5,049,187) (677,247)
(2,583,726) (346,555) (3,178,757) (426,367)
(2,583,726) (346,555) (3,178,757) (426,367)
(3,411,116) (457,533) (8,227,944) (1,103,614)
3,862,040 518,015 12,089,984 1,621,630
450,924 60,482 3,862,040 518,015
5,108,337 685,181 3,575,099 479,528
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2011 11 24
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ASU 2016-13 326
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740
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2021 12 16
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20,000
2022 12 31 20,642 2021 20,000
HSBC 2011 12 15
100 0.150
150 0.125
250 0.100
6,500
2022 12 31 134,190 2021 151,382
2022 12 31 10,928 2021 12,362
2022 12 31 860 2021 3,500
2022 12 31 80 2021 200
2022 12 31 2021 12 31 50,000 1.00

100 0.001 49,900,000
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2011 12 14
2022 2021
100 100
501,500 517,650
(15,185) (16,150)
(15,185) (16,150)
486,315 501,500
2022 2,765,596 2021 3,178,757
15,185 2021 16,150
2022 2021
2,765,596 3,178,757
(181,870)
2,583,726 3,178,757
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2022 12 31
88,194,390 88,194,390 — —
88,194,390 88,194,390 — —
2021 12 31
96,355,162 96,355,162 — —
96,355,162 96,355,162 — —
2013 2022 12 31 2021
12 31
2022 12 31 2021 12 31
2022 12 31 2021 12 31
2022 12

31 2021 12 31
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2022 12 31 2021 12 31
11.
2022 12 31
2022 2021
200.01 170.99
« D
9.24 6.25
«C ) 27.37) 22.77
C ) 18.13) 29.02
181.88 200.01
«C ) 9.07 ) 16.97
0.64 0.49
0.64 0.49
5.08 3.13
12.
2023 31
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2022 12 31

5,398,737 6.10
64,097 0.07
2,147,938 2.43
5,007,824 5.66
4,929,834 5.57
76,955 0.09
1,064,748 1.20
4,978,004 5.63
3,128,367 3.54
18,927,876 21.40
2,422,763 2.74
2,493,921 2.82
1,108,754 1.25
6,059,578 6.85
374,692 0.42
232,223 0.26
283,147 0.32
1,277,447 1.45
2,452,929 2.77
566,848 0.64
1,914,285 2.17
3,285,021 3.72
2,143,259 2.42
1,893,054 2.14
1,989,483 2.25
7,741,882 8.75
1,357,106 1.54
1,108,147 1.25
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China Southern Airlines Co Ltd H 5,170,210 8,286,000 5,398,737 6.10
China Communications Construction Co Ltd H 7,844,892 10,412,000 5,007,824 5.66
China Glass Holdings Ltd 819,870 8,896,000 924,195 1.04
China Lesso Group Holdings Ltd 1,804,261 2,067,000 2,160,636 2.44
West China Cement Ltd (HKSE) 2,462,641 15,636,000 1,845,003 2.09
China Mobile Ltd. 4,794,494 750,000 4,978,004 5.63
Bank of China Ltd H 8,359,229 16,200,000 5,900,882 6.67
Bank of Communications Co Ltd H 4,847,623 5,863,000 3,376,369 3.82
China Construction Bank Corp H 7,955,996 10,058,393 6,308,426 7.13
China Minsheng Banking Corp Ltd H 6,833,458 9,651,280 3,342,199 3.78
CITIC Securities Co Ltd H 6,659,428 2,994,000 6,059,578 6.85

Hang Lung Properties Ltd 2,073,660 730,000 1,428,766 1.62
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Hon Kwok Land Investment Co Ltd
Red Star Macalline Group Corp Ltd H

Sino-Ocean Group Holdings Ltd

688,042
7,991,479
2,944,063
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2,254,000 566,622 0.64
9,105,351 2,919,579 3.30
20,221,000 2,826,915 3.20
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2021 12 31

6,309, 306 6.29
110,581 0.11
3,005,767 3.00
5,634,568 5.62
6,841,503 6.82
146,190 0.15
580,786 0.58
3,016,780 3.01
1,777,944 1.77
20,034,057 19.97
3,155,462 3.15
3,205,655 3.20
1,963,037 1.96
7,755,631 7.73
518,241 0.52
299,731 0.30
515,310 0.51
2,619,309 2.61
475,555 0.47
3,513,887 3.50
2,565,462 2.56
1,952,731 1.95
4,511,666 4.50
8,124,487 8.10
1,301,150 1.30
1,773,520 1.77
4,646,846 4.63
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China Southern Airlines Co Ltd H 6,587,868 10,558,000 6,309,306 6.29
China Communications Construction Co Ltd H 7,844,892 10,412,000 5,634,568 5.62
China Glass Holdings Ltd 819,870 8,896,000 1,973,581 1.97
China Lesso Group Holdings Ltd 1,771,569 2,035,000 2,891,466 2.88
West China Cement Ltd (HKSE) 1,936,688 11,250,000 1,976,456 1.97
Zhejiang Glass Co Ltd H 439,460 1,379,000

Bank of China Ltd H 8,359,229 16,200,000 5,879,162 5.86
Bank of Communications Co Ltd H 4,847,623 5,863,000 3,526,198 3.52
China Construction Bank Corp H 7,955,996 10,058,393 6,965,244 6.94
China Minsheng Banking Corp Ltd H 6,833,458 9,651,280 3,663,453 3.65
CITIC Securities Co Ltd H 6,659,428 2,994,000 7,755,631 7.73
Hang Lung Properties Ltd 2,300,910 810,000 1,666,109 1.66
Hon Kwok Land Investment Co Ltd 688,042 2,254,000 855,578 0.85
Red Star Macalline Group Corp Ltd H 7,991,479 9,105,351 4,366,991 4.35
Sino-Ocean Group Holdings Ltd 1,170,094 5,295,000 1,235,809 1.23
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CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at December 31, 2022

Notes 2022 2021
Uss Uss
Assets
Investments m CCMF Limited (“Master Fund™), at fair valoe
(Cost 2022: US$65,863.670; 2021: US$67.780,861) 7 88,448 069 100,307 212
Interest receivable 457 -
Cash and cash equivalents 2 386,267 397915
Amounts due from Master Fund 181.870 -
Total assets B80.017.563 100,705,127
Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other hiabilities 32,800 13,125
Management fee payable 4 13,137 22,760
Redemptions payable 218,080 -
Total liahilities 324017 95,885
Net asseis B88.693 546 100,609 242
Number of umts cutstanding 5 203 340 207 410
Wet asset valoe per unit 11 436.18 485.07

The accompanying notes and Appendix are an integral part of these financial statements.
4
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CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Year ended December 31, 2022

Note 2022 2021
Uss Uss
Net imvestment income allocated from the Master Fund
Dividend income 5,114,300 3,664,332
Withholding tax expense (338933 ( 246,679
(Other meome g£24 123
Other expenses (235654 ( 250,548)
4 540,537 3167228
Trust's operating expenses
Management fee 4 (  B97R6L) ( 1,015,128)
Sub-custodian fee ( 23) ( 23)
Legal and professional fees ( 47,727 {  51,586)
Repgistrar's and adminisiration fees 4 ( 12,000) ( 12,000)
Other expenses ( 13,018) ( 13,058)
Other mcome 1,528 4
(  969.106) ( 1,091,793)
Net investment income 3571431 2,075,435

Net realised and unrealised (losses)/gains on investments
and foreign exchange differences allocated from the Master Fund

Wet realised (losses)/'zains on sale of investments ( 69.501) 8823775
Net change in unrealised (losses)/zains on investments
during the year { 13555397 3,049 847
Foreign exchange losses ( B.286) {70219
( 13,633184) 11,803 403
Trust’s realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on investments
and exchange differences
Foreign exchange gains/(Josses) 19 { 63)
19 {63)
Net realised and unrealised (Josses)/'gains from
investments and foreign currency transactions { 13,633,165) 11,803,340
Net (decrease)/increase I net assets resulting from operations ( 10,061,734) 13878773

The accompanying notes and Appendix are an integral part of these fimancial statements.
5
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CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year ended December 31, 2022

MNote

Changes in net assets resulting from operations

Net investment income allocated from the Master Fund

Trust’s operating expenses

Trust's net exchange gains/(losses)

Net realized and unrealised (losses)/zams on mvestments
and foreign exchange differences allocated from the
Master Fund

Net (decrease)/increase in net assets resulting
from operations

Change in net assets resulting from capital
share transactions

Unit redemptions 5

Net decrease in net assets resulting
from capital transactions

Met (decrease)/increase In net assets
et assets at beginning of year

Net assets at end of year
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The accompanying notes and Appendix are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2022 2021
Uss Uss
4,540,537 3,167,228

(  969,106) ( 1.091,793)
19 ( 63)
(13,633,184 11,803,403
(10,061,734) 13,878,775
( 1,853,962) ( 2,276,658
( 1.853,962) ( 2.276.658)
(11.915,696) 11,602,117
100,609,242 89,007,125
88,693,546 100,609,242



CAPE CHINA FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended December 31, 2022

MNote

Cash flows from operating activities
Net (decrease)/increase in net assets resulting from operations
in operating assets and liabilities:
Net decrease/{ncrease) m investment in the Master Fund
Increase in redemptions receivable
Increase in interest recervable
Increase/{decrease) m accrued expenses and other labilities
(Decrease)/increase in management fee payable
Net cash flows generated from operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Payment for redemption of units 5
Net cash flows used in financing activities

et decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

EDINETOOOO
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2022 2021

Uss Us$

( 10,061,734) 13,878,775
11,858,243 ( 11,791,874)
(181,870 :
( 457) -
19.675 (2029
9623 _ 95
1624234 2,004 621

( 1,635.882) ( 2.276.658)
( 1,635.882) ( 2.276.658)
(11648 ( 182.037)
397,015 579,952
386,267 397,915

The accompanying notes and Appendix are an integral part of these fimancial statements.
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022

1. Organisation

Cape Chma Fund (the “Trust™) was registered under the Cayman Islands Mutual Funds Act and
established under the laws of the Cayman Islands and constitated by a Trust Deed (the “Trost Dead™)
dated October 3, 2004 made between the Bank of Bermmda (Cayman) Limited (the “Trustee™) as
Trustee and Cape Asset Management Limited as Manager. The Trust only issues one class of umts.

The Trust commenced operations on October 29, 2004. Its investment objective is to maximise capital
gamns principally by identifying and acquining equity secunties of companies that have growth
potential and which operate m, carry on a busimess m or denve revemue from or are located i the
Greater China Region including Mamland China, Hong Kong and Macan of Peopla’s Republic of
China and Taiwan.

Unless terminated earlier, the Trust will be termimated one hundred years after the date of the Trost
Deed. The Trust changed itz name from Seven China Equity Fund to Cape China Fund on January 23,
2006. Seven Asset Management (Asia) Limited retired as the Manager, and on June 1, 2009 Cape
Asset Management [ imited was appointed as the Manager.

The Trust was established as a stand-alone fund and converted into a “feeder” fund in a “master feeder”
fund structure om December 15, 2011. The master fimd is CCMF Limited (the “Master Fund™), a

Cayman Islands exempted company. The Trustinvests all or substantially all of its assets i the Master

Fund which shares the same investment objective and strategy as the Trust The restmictuning took

effect by transferming all of the Trust's underlying investments and cash to the Master Fund m

exchange for the participating shares of the Master Fund.

Effective from October 6, 2017, Bank of Bermuda (Cayman) Limited (the “Retirng Tmstee™) was
retired and HSBC Tmstee (Cayman) Limited was appointed as the trustee (the “Tmstee™) of the Trust
on the same date.

The Master Fund 1= managed by Cape Asset Management Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Eong with limited liability. The Master Fund will accept subscriptions from the Trust as well as other
parallel feeder funds or vehicles established by the Manager from time to time. At 31 December 2022,
the Trust’s investment in the Master Fund represents 100% (2021: 100%) of the net assets of the
Master Fund.

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Trust’s financial statements have been prepared m accordance with accounting primciples
generally accepted in the United States of America (US. GAAP”) and are stated in United States
Dollars (“US$"™), which is also the fimctional cumrency. Certain comparative amounts have been
reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation. The following is a summary of the
significant accounting and reporting policies nsed in preparing the financial statements:
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Accounting and Regulatory Development

In Jume 2016, the Fmancial Accounting Standards Beard ("FASB™) 1ssued Accounting Standards
Update (“ASU™) 2016-13 Financial Instruments - Cradit Losses (Topic 326) that require a financial
asset (or a group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at the net amount
expected to be collected. The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that 1z deducted from
the amortized cost basis of the financial assets to present the net carrying value at the amoumt expected
to be collected on the financial asset. The income statement reflects the measurement of credit losses
for newly recogmized financial assets, as well as the expected increases or decreases of expected credit
losses that have taken place dunng the period. ASU 2016-13 15 effective for fiscal years beginming
after December 15, 2022. Early adoption is permitted for annual periods beginning after December
15, 2018, The Directors assessed that this has no impact to the Fund’s fimancial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, ncome Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifiing the
Accounting for Income Taxes. This gmdance simplifies the accounting for meome taxes by removing
certain exceptions to the general prmciples in Topic 740. The amendments also mmprove consistent
application of and simplify GAAP for other areas of Topic 740 by clanfying and existing
gmdance. The new guidance 15 effective for fiscal vears beginming after December 13, 2021. This
standard has been adopted for the first time and the Manager assessed that there is no significant
changes to the financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts doe from banks on demand Cash and cash equivalents
are stated at cost, which approximates their market value. Balances which are denominated in foreign
cmmsmtmslatedmluﬂﬁatﬂmamhcah]emufexchmg&atﬂmenﬂnﬂhn Teporting period.
As at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, all cash and cash equivalents are held with
custodian, ngkongmﬂﬂhmghﬂBanhng Curpumhun]..nmted No restricted cash was held by
Fund as at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

Invesiment Company

The Trust meets the definition of an investment company within Accounting Standard Codification
(“ASC™) Topic 946, “Financial Services — Investment Companies ", 13sued by FASB, and applies the
accounting and reporting guidance in this Topic to its financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Trust's assets and liabilities which qualify as financial instruments under FASB
ASC 823, “Financial Instruments ”, approximates the camyimg amounts presented in the financial
statements.
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CAPE CHINA FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022

2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Invesiment Valuation

The Trust's investment in the Master Fund is valued at fair value, which is the Trust’s proporticnate
mterest in the net assets of the respective share class in the Master Fund. The performance of the Trust
15 directly affected by the performance of the Master Fund. The Trust records any change m valne m
the statement of operations by recording its proportionate share of the Master Fund’s mmcome, expenses,
realised and unrealised gainflosses. In addition, the Trust accrues its own income and expenses. The
Trost invests m the Master Fund and the Trust’s investment policy is same as the investment policy
of the Master Fund. Smee the operating activities of the Trust are conducted through its investment i
the Master Fund, the financial statements of the Master Fund are an integral part of these financial
statements and should be read in conpmetion with those of the Trust. The Master Fund’s financial
statements are therefore attached.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities denonunated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the date of the statement of assets and habilities. Transactions in foreign cumrencies are
translated at the rates of exchange prevailng at the time of the transaction. Exchange gams or losses,
both realised and unrealised, are included in the statement of operations.

The Trust does not 1solate that portion of gains and losses on mvestments which 1z due to changes m
foreign exchange rates from that which is due to changes in market prices of the investments. Such
fluctnations are included with the net realised and unrealised gains and losses from investments.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements m conformity with U.S. GAAP may require management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and habilities, meluding
the fair value of investments as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
mecome and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results conld differ from those estimates.

Related Party Transactions

The Trust is managed by the Manager, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited hiabality.
The Manager is responsible, subject to the policies, controls and approval of the Trustee, for the
mvestment of the Trust’s assets in accordance with the mvestment objective set out in the Explanatory
Memorandum. Details of the fees, to which the Manager is entifled, are provided in Note 4 to these
financial statements.

Shareholdings in the Trust

As at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, a director of the Manager held 25,000 shares of
the Trust.

10
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022

4. Fees

Management fee

The Manager iz entitled to receive a management fee at an annual rate of 1% on the net asset value of
the Trust at each month end, payable in amears. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the
management fee was US$897 864 (2021: US$1,015,128). As at December 31, 2022, a management
fee of 1S$73,137 (2021: US$82,760) was payable to the Manager.

Performance fee

The Manager is also enfitled to receive an anmal performance fee of 10% of any increase i net asset
value above an mitial 4% increase n each finanecial year on a cumnlative basis in the net asset value
of units as at the last dealing day of the preceding financial year or a base net asset value of US$100
per unit for the first financial year. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021,
there was no performance fee expense. As at December 31, 2022 a.m:lDeca:ubEtEl, Qﬂll,ﬂzmwas
no performance fee payable to the Manager.

Registrar’s and administration fees
The Trustee iz entitled to receive a fixed fee of US$12,000 per annum as Trustee’s fee, Registrar's
fees and adnunistration fees.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Registrar's and administration fee was US$12 000 (2021:
US$12,000). As at December 31, 2022, Regisirar's and admimstration fees of US$1,000 (2021:
US$1,000) was payable to the Trustee.

5. Capital Tranzactions

The Trust has an unlimited unit capital amount with no par value. All outstanding units share the same
charactenstics.

Units in the Trust are nommally issued on or with effect from any dealing day (monthly) in respect of
applications received before the subscription dealing deadline in relation to the relevant dealing day.
The issue price is the amount equal to the et Asset Value per unit as at the relevant valuation point
plus an amount, if any, as the Manager may determine to add in respect of fiscal and purchase
charges and such amount will be rounded up to the nearest cent. The benefit of such rounding is
retained as part of the Trust’s assets.

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager is obliged to accept requests for the redemption of wmits by
amranging for their cancellation on any dealing day (monthly) m respect of requests recetved before

the redemption dealing deadline which is at least 14 days prior to the relevant dealing day. Bedemption
price of a Unit will be the amount equal to the Net Asset Value per unit of the Trust calculated on that
dealing day less any amount of performance fee payable to the Manager and any applicable expense
as the Manager may determine to deduct. No partial redemption which would result in the unitholder
retaining fewer than 100 units or such lesser number as the Manager may in its discretion agree. In
addition, the Manager may limit the mumber of units to be redeemed on any redemaption date to 10%
of total number of umnits in issue.

11
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022

5. Capital Transactions (continued)

2022 2021

Uniits ontstanding at beginning of year 207.410 212182
Units redeemed (40700 (47T
Net change ( 4.070) (47

Units outstanding at end of year 203,340 207 410

Durimg 2022, no wmts (2021: no units) were 1ssued and 4,070 units (2021: 4,772 units) were redeemed
for US$1,853,962 (2021: US$2,276,658). Units are issued and redeemed in accordance with the Trast

Deeed.
2022 2021
Uss Us$
Fedemptions during the year 1,853,962 2,276,658
PRedemption payable, end of the year [ 2180800 -
Payment for redemption of units 1.635.882 2,276,638

12
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022

6. Taxation

Under the cument laws of the Cayman Islands, there 15 no income, withholding, capital gains
corporation, inhentance, or estate taxes of any kind.

The Trust has received an undertaking from the Govemor-in-Cabinet of the Cayman Islands that for
the period of fifty years from October 5, 2004 (date of establishment), no law which 15 hereafter
enacted in the Cayman Islands imposing any such taxes shall apply to the Tmust.

The Trust recognizes and measures its unrecogmzed tax positions in accordance with ASC 740,
Income Taves. These prmeiples preseribe the mimimum recognition threshold a tax position mmst meet
m comnection with accounting for uncertainties in ncome tax positions taken or expected. The
applications of these principles did not impact the Trust’s financial statements.

The Trust has analyzed the positions for all open tax years (2004 to 2022), and the posifions to be
taken for the tax year ended December 31, 2022 in 1ts major jurisdictions, and have determuned
whﬂd:a‘nrnuttha‘earemcmtamtupomhumthatreqlm financial statement recogmition. Based on
its analy=is, the Directors has determined that this policy did not have a material impact on the Trust’s
financial statements. However, the Directors” conclusions regarding this policy may be subject to
review and adyustment at a later date based on factors including, but not limited to, on-going analyses
of and changes to tax laws, regulations and interpretations thereof. The Trust recognizes mterest
accrued related to wnrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and penalties mn other expenses, if
assessed. No mterest expense or penalties have been assessed for the year ended December 31, 2022
{2021: Nal).

T Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Az at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the financial assets of the Trust consist of its
investment in the Master Fund and as such the Manager determined that fair value of the financial
assets mvolved inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset either directly (as
priced) or indirectly (denved from prices) 1e. Level 2.

For the year ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, there were no transfers between Level
1 or Level 2 and Level 3.

8 Distributions
The Tmstee may make distributions, at the discretion of the Manager, in respect of each financial year
to each unitholder on the distnbution date falling in the subsequent financial year of up to all of the
appreciation in the net asset value of the units held by the umtholders in the current financial year. No
distributions were made for the current or prior year.

9, Indemnifications

The Trust enters into contracts that contain a varety of indemnifications. The Trust’'s maximum
exposure under these arrangements is unknown However, the Trust has not had prior claims or losses
pursuant to these contracts and expects the nsk of loss to be remote.

13
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022

10. Financial Instruments and Associated Risks

The Trost’s investment in Master Fund is exposed to vanious types of sk both on and off the statement
of financial condition which are associated with the financial mstruments and markets in which the
Master Fund immvests. Details of those nisks are contained in the Master Fund s financial statements as
attached.

11.  Financial Highlights

The following represents the per umt information, ratio to average net assets and other information
for the year ended December 31, 2022:

2022 2m
Uss Us3
Per unit operating performance
Met asset value, beginning of year 48507 41943
{Loss)income from imvestment operations:
Net investment expenses { 4.74) [
Net (loss)/gain on nvestments [ 44.15) T0.83
Total (loss)/income from investment operations (4880 63.59
Met asset value, end of year 436.18 48507
Total investment retum prior to performance fee ( 10.08%) 15.64%
Performance fes 0.00%% 0.00%
Total investment refumn after performance fee { 10008%) 15.64%
Fatio to average net assets:
Expenses other than performance fee 1.08% 1.08%
Performance fees 0.00% 0.00%
Total expenses 1.08% 1.08%
Net investment expenses [ 1.08%) { 1.08%)

An individual investor per unit operating performance, total retum and raties to average net assets
may vary from these amounts and ratios based on the timing of capital transactions.

14
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CAPE CHINA FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022
12. Subsequent Events
The Manager has evaluated the effect of all subsequent events ocowrmng through March 31, 2023, the

date the financial statements were available to be 13sued, and has determined that there were no
subsequent events requiring adjustment to or disclosure in the financial statements.

15
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Audited Financial Statements

CCMF LIMITED ) _

{An [se&-dl;p;cﬂh c%ﬂzﬂdy lil;llfﬁirgmmd in the Cayman
Year ended December 31, 2022
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Ernst & Young Ltd. Ted: +1 345 949 3444
&2 Forum Lane Fax: +1 345 949 A529
Camana Bay y.oom

PO, Box 510

Building a better Grand Cayman KY1-1106
working world CAYMAN ISLANDS
Report of Independent Auditors
The Board of Directors
CCMF Limited
Opinion

We have andited the finaneial statements of CCMF Limited (the “Fund™), which comprize the
statements of assets and liabilities, including the condensed schedule of investments, as of
December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, and the related statements of operations, changes in
net assets and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as

the “financial statements™).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present faitly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Fund at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAS). Owr responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Fund and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the andit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our andit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for
the design implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether doe to frand
OF e1Tor.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate that raise substantial doubt about the Fund’s
ability to continne as a going concemn for one year after the date that the financial statements are
available to be 1ssued.

& membar firm ol Emet & Foang Glzbal Limikss
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our cbjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free of matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 1o 1ssue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinicn. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as frand may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Misstatements are considered material if there 15 a substantial likelithood that idividually or m
the aggregate, they would influence the jodgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial
staterments.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to frand or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are approptiate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control, Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

+ Ewvaluate the appropriatemess of accounting policies used and the reasomableness of

significant accounting estimates made by management. as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the finaneial statements.

»  Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern for a reasonable period of time.

A mariaer frm of Errat B Yeang Gioasl Limked
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We are required to communicate with those charged with govemance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the andit, significant andit findings, and certain internal

control-related matters that we identified during the andit.
éﬁm«t +* Miﬂ

March 31, 2023

A mariaer frm of Errat B Yeang Gioasl Limked
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CCMF LIMITED
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

December 31, 2022

MNotes

Assets
Investments m secunties, at far value

(Cost 2022: USS117 428 427; 2021: US$112,033,802) 7
Cash and cash equivalents 2
Other assets

Total assets

Liahilities

Accmed expenses and other habilities

Fedemptions payable

Total liabilities

Net assefs

Number of participating shares outstanding 5

Net asset value per participating share 11

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these financial statements.

4
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2022 2021
Uss US%
28,194,390 96,355,162
450,924 3,862,040
32,433 113,647
88.677.747 100,330,849
46,908 23 637
181.870 -
228,778 23 637
88 448,969 100,307,212
486,315 501,500

181.38 200.01
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CCMF LIMITED
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Year ended December 31, 2022

Notes 2022 201
Uss Us$
Investment income and expenses
Income:
Dividend income 5,114,300 3,664,332
Withholding tax expense 6 (338933 (  246,679)
Other mcome 824 123
Total investment income 4,776,191 3417776
Expenses:
Registrar's and admimstration fees 4 134,190 151,382
Sub-custodian fee 26,614 26,186
Legal and professional fees 37400 31,900
Transaction fee 4 860 3,500
Directors' fee 4 20,642 20,000
Other expenses 15,930 17,580
Total expenses 235,654 230,548
MNet investment income 4 540,537 3.167 228
Realised and change in unrealised (losses)/gains on
investments and foreign currency transactions
Net realized (losses)/'gams on sale of investments {  69,501) 8823775
Wet change in unrealized (losses)/gains on investments
during the year (13,555,397) 3,049 847
Foreign exchange losses ({ 2 286) ( 70,219)
Net realised and change in unrealised (Josses)/gains from
investments and foreign currency transactions (13,633.184) 11,803,403
Net (decrease)/increase in net assets resulting from operations { 9092647 14970631

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year ended December 31, 2022
Note 2022 201
Uss Us$
Change in net assets resulting from operations
Net mnvestment income 4 540,537 3,167 228
Net realised (losses)/gams on sale of investments {  69,301) 8823775
et change in unrealised (losses)/gains on investments
dunng the year (13,555397) 3,040 247
Foreign exchange losses { 8.286) ( T0.219)
Net change in net assets resulting from operations ( 9,002.647T 14,970,631
Change in net assets resulting from capital share transactions
Participating share redemptions 5 ( 2.765,596) ( 3,178,757)
Net change in net assets resulting from capital share
transactions ( 2,765,596) { 3,178,757)
Net change in net assets (11,858.243) 11,791,874
et assets at beginning of year 100,307 212 28.515,338
Net assets at end of year 88 448 060 100,307 212

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended December 31, 2022
Note 2022 20
Uss USs$
Cash flows from operating activities
Net change in net assets resulting from operations ( 9.092647) 14,970,631

Adjustments to reconcile net change in net assets
resulting from operations to net cash generated

from operating activities:
Purchases of investments ( T7490618) ( 24,846.642)
Proceeds from sales of investments 2,026,492 16,797 597
et realised losses/{gains) on sale of investments 69,501 ( 8823.7T%)
Net change in unrealised losses/{gains) on
investments during the year 13,553,397 ( 3,049.847)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease/(increase) o other assets 21214 ( a5 304)
Increase/(decrease) in accrued expenses
and other habilities 23271 ( 1.847)
Net cash used in operating activities (8273000  ( 5049.187)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payment for redemption of participating shares 5 ( 2383728) ( 3,178757)
Net cash flows used in financing activities ( 2583726) (3178757
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ( 3411116) ( 8227944)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3,862,040 12,089 984
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 450,924 3,862,040

Supplemental disclosure of cash information:
Cash received during the year from dividend 5,108,337 3,575,099

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

| Organisation

CCMF Limted (the "Fond”) is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on November 24, 2011. The Fund commenced operations on December 15, 2011.
The Fund has no employees.

Cape China Fund, a Cayman Islands Unit Trust ("Feeder Fund”), invests all or substantially all of 1ts
assets through the participating shares issued by the Fund. Cape Asset Management Limited, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with hmited liability (the "Manager™), acts as investment
manager of the Fund and the Feeder Fund.

The Fund's investment objective 13 to maxinmse capital gains by investing in the greater China region.
The Manager will seek to achieve the investiment objective of the Fund principally by identifying and
acguiring equity securties of companies that the Manager considers have growth potential and which
operate in, carry on a business in or derive revenue from or are located in the greater China region or
with business mterests in the greater China region and will identify such other investments as may
otherwise mean the objective of the Fund can be attained.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Funds financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Amenca (U5, GAAP") and are stated in Umted States
Dollars (“US$™), which is also the functional currency.

The following is a summary of the significant accounting and reporting policies used in preparing the
financial statements:

Accounting and Regulatory Development

In Jume 2016, the Fmancial Accounting Standards Beard ("FASB™) 1ssued Accounting Standards
Update (“ASU™) 2016-13 Financial Instrumenis - Credit Losses (Topic 326) that require a financial
asset (or a group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at the net amount
expected to be collected. The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that 1s deducted from
the amortized cost basis of the financial assets to present the net carmying value at the amoumt expected
to be collected on the financial asset. The income statement reflects the measurement of credit losses
for newly recogmized financial assets, as well as the expected increases or decreases of expected credit
losses that have taken place during the penod. ASTI 2016-13 15 effective for fiscal years beginming
after December 15, 2022. Early adoption is permutted. The Directors assessed that this will not have
mpact to the Fund’s financial statements upon adoption.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, ncome Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifiing the
Accounting for Income Taves. This gmdance simplifies the accounting for meome taxes by removing
certain exceptions to the general prmciples m Topic 740. The amendments also mprove consistent
application of and simplify GAAP for other areas of Topic 740 by clanfymg and existing
gmdance. The new guidance iz effective for fiscal yvears beginming after December 13, 2021. This
standard has been adopted for the first time and there is no matenial impact to the financial statements.

12
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continwed)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents mclude amounts due from banks on demand. Cash equivalents are short-
term, highly iquid investments that are readily comvertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to msignificant changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for mvestments and other purposes. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at
cost, which approxmmates their market value. Balances which are denomimated in foreign cumrencies
are translated mto USY at the applicable rates of exchange at the end of the reporting period. As at
December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, all cash and cash equivalents are held with cash
custodian, Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited. No restricted cash was held by
Fund as at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

Investment Company

The Fund meets the definition of an investment company within Accounting Standards Codification
{"ASC") Topic 946, "Financial Services — Investment Companies”, 1ssued by FASE, and applies the
accounting and reporting guidance in this Topic to its financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Fund's assets and liabilities which qualify as finaneial mstruments under FASE

ASC 823, "Financial Instruments”, approximates the camrying amounts presented in the financial
statements.

13
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continwed)

Invesiment Valuation

The Fund's investment in listed securities are valued at their last traded prices on the valuation date
where the stock exchange in question closes on or before the valuation point on the relevant valuation
date, or, if such stock exchange closes after the valuation point on the relevant valuation date, by
reference to the last traded price as at close of business on the stock exchange immediately prior to
the relevant valuation date_If no such last traded price is available, the securities are valued at nmdway
between the latest available market dealing offered price and the latest available market dealmg bid
price on the pn.m:lpa] stock exchange for such investments. Market values are determined by using

quoted market prices.

The mputs or methodology used for valuing securities are not necessanly an indication of the nsk
associated with mvesting in those securities.

Dividend Income
Dividend mmecome 15 recorded on the ex-dividend date.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabalities denominated m foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the date of the statement of assets and hiabilities. Transactions in foreign cuurencies are
translated at the rates of exchange prevailing at the time of the transaction. Exchange gains or losses,
both realised and unrealised, are incloded in the statements of operations.

The Fund does not isolate that portion of gains and losses on investments which is due to changes in
foreign exchange rates from that which is doe to changes in market prices of the mvestments. Such
fluctnations are included with the net realised and unrealised gams and losses from imvestments.

Invesiment Gains and Losses

Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. Feahised gains and losses resulting
from the sale of mvestments are caleulated on an average cost basis, and are reflected in the statement
of operations. Changes in umrealised appreciation or depreciation on investments is included in the
statement of operations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.5. GAAP may require management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amownts reported m the financial statements and
accompanymg notes. Actnal results could differ from these estimates.

3 Related Party Transactions
The Fund 15 managed by the Manager, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limated lability.

The Manager is responsible, subject to the policies and supervision of the Directers of the Fund, for
the mvestment of the Fund's assets. The rermmeration of the Manager 15 borne by the Feeder Fund.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022

4. Fees

Directors' fee

The Directors are entitled to receive a fee from the Fund. They may be paid the reasonable travel and
out-of-pocket expenses properly mcurred by them in attending and retuming from meetings of the
Directors, any committee of the Directors, any general meeting or any other meeting held in
connection with the business of the Fund, which are not expected to exceed US$20,000 per anmum
per Director. For the year ended December 31, 2022, Directors fee were US$20,642 (2021:
US$20,000).

Registrar's and administration fees

HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited (the "Admimstrator”) has been appointed on December 15, 2011
to perform the administrative services. The Admimstrator 15 entitled to receive adminmistration and
custodian fees from the Fund calculated at the following annual rate of the net asset value of the Fund:

For the first US$100 million of the net asset value 0.150%:
For the next 1US%1 50 million of the net asset value 0.125%
Above 1US$250 million of the net asset value 0.100%%

The fees will acerue on each dealing day (monthly) and be paid monthly in arrears. It is subjact to a
muinimum monthly fee of US$6,300.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the administration fee was US$134,190 (2021: US$151,382).

As at December 31, 2022, an administration fee of US$10,928 (2021: US$12 362) was payable to the
Administrator.

Transaction fee
The Admimstrator is entitled to receive transaction fees and charges on the basis of the mumber of
equities transactions, payable monthly in amears.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, transaction fees were US$260 (2021: USS3,300). As at
December 31, 2022, a transaction fee of US$RB0 (2021: US$200) was payable to the Administrator.

Management and Performance fees
The Manager does not charge any management and performance fees at the Fund level.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

5. Share Capital

The share capital of the Fund is US$50,000 divided into 100 management shares of US51.00 par
value each and 49,900,000 participating shares of US$0.001 par value each as at both December 31,
2022 and December 31, 2021.

The Directors shall determine the subscription price at the time of issue of the first issue of
participating shares. Thereafter, the Directors may 1ssue participating shares on amy subscription date
provided that such additional participating shares are issued at a subscription price equal to not less
than the net asset value per participating share (such amount will be rounded up to the nearest cent
and the benefit of such roundmg 15 retained as part of the Fund's assets) calculated on the relevant
subscription date or on any day as may be specified by the Directors. The subscription date 1s any
dealing day in respect of applications received before the subscription dealing deadhine in relation to
the relevant dealing day.

A shareholder may generally require the redemption of all or any of such shareholder's participating
shares by serving a redemption notice on the Fund. The Fund shall redeem such participating shares
at the redemption price, being an amount equal to the net asset value per participating share
{such amount will be rounded down to the nearest cents) calenlated on the relevant redemption date
or on any day as may be specified by the Directors. The redemption date 13 any dealing day provided
that the redemption request nomst hemmdbeforeﬂleredmnptmudmhngdmd]mmmlahmmﬂm
relevant dealing day. The Directors may impose a gate the effect of which is to limit the

of participating shares of any class and/or series as of any redemption date to such extent and in such
manner as they may, in their sole discretion, determine. Ifthe Directors determine to limit redemiptions,
the Directors may determine the manner m which such gated redemption requests will be dealt with
on any subsequent redemption date.

The holder of management shares shall have the right to receive notice of, attend at and vote as a
member at any general meeting of the Fund, and the right in a winding up to repayment of capital but
shall confer no other night to participate m the profits or assets of the Fund.

The holder of participating shares shall generally not have the night to receive notice of attend at or

vote as a member at any general meeting of the Fund but may vote at a separate meeting of holders
of participating shares, but shall have the nght m a winding up to participate m the surphos assets of
the Fund.

All management shares were allotted and 1ssued to the Manager at par value as resolved by the
Durectors on December 14, 2011.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022

5.

Share Capital (continued)
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The participating shares are issued and redeemed in accordance with the Memorandum and Articles

of Association and as established by the Directors.

Management shares at begmning and end of year

Participating shares outstanding at beginning of year

Participating shares redeemed
Net change

Participating shares cutstanding at end of year

2022 2021
100 100
501,500 317,650

15.185) (  16.150)
13,189 (  16.150)

486,315 501,500

During 2022, no participating shares were issued and 13,185 (2021: 16,130) participating shares were

redeemed for US$2,765,596 (2021: US$3,178,757).

Fedemptions during the year
Redemptions payable, end of the year

Payment for redemption of participating shares

17
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

b, Taxation

Under the cument laws of the Cayman Islands, there is no income, withholding, capital gains,
corporation, inheritance, or estate taxes of any kind.

Dividend revenue is subject to withhelding tax in certam jurisdictions and is the item subject to
taxation. The withholdmg tax for the year ended December 31, 2022 waz USH338,933 (2021:
US$246,679).

The Fund has received an undertaking from the Govemnor-in-Cabinet of the Cayman Islands that for
the period of fifty years from December 13, 2011 (date of establishment), no law which is hereafter
enacted in the Cayman Islands imposing any such taxes shall apply to the Fund.

The Fund is not subject to any Hong Kong tax on income or capital gams. As a result, no tax Liability
or expense has been recorded in the financial statements.

The Fund recognises and measures its unrecognised tax positions in accordance with ASC 740,
Income Taces. These principles preseribe the minimum recognition threshold a tax position must meet
m comnection with accounting for uncertainties in income tax positions taken or expected. The
applicatioms of these principles did not mpact the Fund's fimancial statements.

The Fund has analysed the positions for all open tax years (2011 to 2022), and the positions to be
taken for the tax year ended December 31, 2022 m 1ts major junsdictions, and have deternined
whether or not there areunmtamtaxpusmﬂus that require financial statement recognition. Based on
its analysis, the Directors has determined that this pelicy did not have a material impact on the Fund's
financial statements. However, the Directors’ conclusions regarding this policy may be subject to
review and adyustment at a later date based on factors mcluding, but not imited to, on-going analyses
of and changes to tax laws, regulations and interpretations thereof. The Fund recogmises interest
accrued related to unrecogmised tax benefits in mterest expense and penalties m other expenses, if
aszessed. No interest expense or penalties have been assessed for the year ended December 31, 2022
{2021: Nal).

T Assets Measured at Fair Valoe on a Recurring Basis

Investments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed mn one of the following
categories.

Level I- Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical investments as of the reporting
date. The type of mvestments mcluded mn Level I mclude listed equities and lhisted
derivatives. As regquired by ASC 820 Fair Falue Measuremenis and Disclosures, the Fund
does not adjust the quoted price for these investments, even in situations where the Fund
helds a large position and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted price.

Level IT - Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets, which are either directly or
mdirectly observable as of the reporting date, and fair value 15 determined through the use
of models or other valnation methodologies.

Lewvel IIT - Pricing inputs are unobservable for the imvestment and includes situations where there is
little, if any, market activity for the investment The inputs into the determimation of fair
value require sigmificant management judgment or estimation. Investments that are
mchided in this category generally mehide the Fund's interest in delisted equity securnities.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022

T. Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis (continned)

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall inte different levels of the fair value
hierarchy. In such cases, an mvestment's level within the far value hierarchy is based on the lowest
level of input that 15 sipmficant to the fair value measurement The Fund's assessment of the
significance of a particular mput to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and
considers factors specific to the investment.

December 31, 2022 Cuoted Price In Significant Significant
US$H  Active Markets Other Unobservable
Total for Identical Observable Inputs
Aszets Inputs
(Level I} (Level )  (Level III)
Uss Uss Us$
Assets
Investments in securities
Common stocks 88,194 390 88.194 390 - -
88,194 390 88.194 390 - -

December 31, 2021

Assets
Investments in securities
Common stocks 96,355,162 96,335,162 - -

96,355,162 96,335,162 - -

Included in Lewvel 3 is an unlisted equity instrument that was previeusly delisted smee 2013 with mil
fair value as at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, thera were no transfers between
Level 1 or Level 2 and Level 3.

Az at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, all investments m securities are held wath the
custodian, Hongkong and Shanghai Bank Corporation Limited.

The changes in investments levels are disclosed using the "begimning of peniod method ™ which
assumes the investment i secunties would be transfemred nte or out of the investment level at farr
value at the beginming of the reporting year. There was no investment in securities that were
transferred in or out of Level 3 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022

8. Dividends and Distributions

The Directors may declare dividends and distributions on participating shares and anthorise payment
of the dividends or distributions. Mo dividend or distribution shall be paid except out of the realised
or unrealised profits of the Fund or out of the share premmm account of the participating shares.

All dividends and distributions in respect of participating shares generally shall be declared and paid
according to the net asset value of the participating shares.

No dividend or distribution was paid or payable for the vear ended December 31, 2022 (2021: Nil).

9, Indemnifications

The Fund enters into contracts that contain a variety of indemmifications. The Fund's maximmm
exposure under these arrangements is unknown. However, the Fund has not had prier claims or losses
pursuant to these contracts and expects the nsk of loss to be remote.

10. Financial instruments and associated risks

The Fund's investment activities expose it to vanous types of nsk, both on and off the statement of
financial condition, which are associated with financial instruoments and markets m which it invests.
These financial instruments of the Fund all in listed equity securities expose the Fund to varying
degrees of elements of market, credit, and foreign currency nisk.

Market risk

Market nisk 15 the nsk of potential adverse changes to the value of the financial instruments and their
derivatives because of changes in market conditions.

In the normal course of business, the Fund trades listed equity secunties. Investments in histed equty
securities 13 subject to equity price nisk. The Fund’s investments are all listed in Hong Kong Stock
Exchange as of December 31, 2022 (2021: all).

Credit risk

Credit risk is measured as the loss the Fund would record if its counterparties failed to perform
pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Fund. Since the Fund has cash at reputable custodian
and mainly mvests in histed equity securities, credit exposure with such transactions 13 mimimal. To
mitigate the credit risk associated with such transactions, the Fund conducts busmess only with
financial mstitutions that the Manager believes to be well established. The Manager formmulated credit
review policies to control credit nsk by following well established credit approval process and daly
monitering of net exposures to individual counterparties.
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CCMF LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022

10. Financial Instruments and associated risks {continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Fund mmvests in securities denominated n a currency other than the US dollar. Consequently, the
Fund iz exposed to risks that the exchange rate of the US dellar relative to the other currency may
change in a manner, which has an adverse effect on the reported value of that portion of the Fund's
assets or Labihties, which are denomunated m cumrencies other than the US dollar. The Fund considers
the exposure to foreign currency nisk is minimal as its mvestments are mamnly denominated m the
Hong Kong dollar, which is pegged to the US dollar.

Concentration risk

As at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Fund was concentrated in issuers and mdustries
listed on the condenzed schedule of investments.

Master-feeder structure
Due to the nature of the master-feeder structure, the Fund could be matenally affected by contmbution
or withdrawal activity of its Feeder Fund.

11.  Financial Highlights

The following represents the per participating share information, ratio to average net assets and other
mformation for the year ended December 31, 2022:

2022 2021
Uss Uss$
Per participating share operating performance
Met asset value, beginning of year 20001 17099
Income{loss) from investment operations:
Net investment income 924 625
Net (loss)/gain on investments [ 2737 T
Total (loss)/income from investment operations [ 18.13) 2002
Met asset value, end of year 18188 200.01
Total mvestment (loss) returm { 9.07%) 16.97%
Ratio to average net assets:
Expenses 0.64% 0.49%
Total expenses 0.64% 0.49%

Met mvestment income 5.08% 3.13%

21
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CCMF LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

11.  Financial Highlights {continued)

An imdividual investor per participating share operating performance, total retum and ratios to average
net assets may vary from these amounts and ratios based on the timing of capital transactions.

12. Subsequent Events
The Manager has evaluated the effect of all subsequent events oceuming through March 31, 2023, the

date the financial statements were available to be issmed, and has determined that thers were no
subsequent events requiring adjustment to or disclosure in the financial statements.

22

106/203



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CCMF LIMITED

CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS

December 31, 2022
Fair value % of
Description Uss net assets
Investment in secarities
Common stocks
Hong Kong
Airlines 5,398,737 6.10%
Apparel Manufacturers 64,007 0.07%
Auto/Track Parts & Equipment 2,147 938 2.43%
Building & Construction - Miscellaneous 5,007,824 5.66%
Building & Construction Products - Miscellaneous 4929 834 5.57%
Capacitors 76,935 0.09%
Cazino Hotels 1,064,748 1.20%
Cellular Telecommunication 4 978,004 5.63%
Chemicals - Specialty 3,128,367 354%
Commercial Banks Non - US 18027 876 21.40%
DistributionWholesale 2422763 2.74%
Electric - Generation 249391 2.82%
Energy - Alternate Sources 1,108,754 1.25%
Finance - Investment Banker/Broker 6,039,578 6.85%
Food - Meat Products 374,602 0.42%
Food - MiscellaneousDiversified 232223 0.26%
Food - Retal 283,147 0.32%
Fund Mizcellaneous 1277 447 1.45%
Gas - Distribution 2452929 2.77%
Metal - Ahomimum 566,848 0.64%
Medical - Biomedical'Gene 1,914 285 217%
Mizcellaneous Manufacring 328501 3.72%
il - Field Services 2,143 259 2.42%
Paper & Related Products 1,803,054 2.14%
Power Conv/Power Supply Equipment 1,980 483 2.25%
Feeal Estate Operation/Development T.741.882 £8.75%
Steel - Producers 1,357,106 1.54%
Steel - Specialty 1,108,147 1.25%
Warehousing & Harbor Transport Services 376547 4.26%
Total Hong Kong
(Cost: USH 117,428 427) 88,194 390 99.71%
Total investment in securities
(Cost: USS 117.428,427) 88,194,390 99.71%

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (contimued)

December 31, 2022

Sipmificant securities holdings with more than 3% of net asset value of the Fund:

Cost Fair value %o of

Company _ US§ _ Quamtity _ US$ net assefs
Airlines

China Southermn Airlines Co Ltd H Shrs 5,170,210 8,286,000 5,398,737 6.10%
Building & Construction - Miscellansous

China Commymications Constroction Co Ltd H Shrs 7,844,852 10,412,000 5,007,824 5.66%
Building & Construction Products - Miscellaneous

China Glass Holdings Ltd 819,870 8,896,000 924,195 1.04%

China Lesso Group Heldings Ltd 1,804,261 2,067,000 2,160,636 244%

West Chima Cement Ltd (FIESE) 2,462 641 15,636,000 1,845,003 2.05%
Cellular Telecommunication

China Mobile Ltd 4,794 454 750,000 4,978,004 5.63%
Commercial Banks Non - US

Bank of China Ltd H Shrs £35922% 16,200,000 5,900,882 6.67%

Bank of Commumications Co Ltd H Shrs 4. 847,623 5,863,000 1,376,369 182%

China Construction Bank Corp H Shrs 7,955,996 10,058,393 6,308,426 7.13%

China Minsheng Bankmg Corp Ltd H Shrs 6,833,458 9,651,280 3342199 3.78%
Finance - Investment BankerBroker

CITIC Securities Co Lid H Shrs 6,659,428 2,994.000 6,059,578 6.85%
Real Estate Operation/Development

Hang Lung Properties Ltd 2,073,660 730,000 1,428,766 1.62%

Hon Kwek Land Investment Co Ltd 688,042 2,254 000 566,622 0.64%

Fed Star Macallme Group Corp Ltd H Shrs 7991479 8,105,351 2919579 3.30%

Simo-Ocean Group Holdings Ltd 2,944 063 20,221,000 2,826,915 320%

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these financial statements.
6
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CCMF LIMITED

CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS

December 31, 2021
Fair value % of
Description Uss net assets
Investment in secarities
Common stocks
Hong Kong
Airlines 6,309,306 6.29%
Apparel Manufacturers 110,581 0.11%
Auto/Track Parts & Equipment 3,003,767 3.00%
Building & Construction - Miscellaneous 5,634,568 5.62%
Building & Construction Products - Miscellaneous 6,841,503 6.82%
Capacitors 146,190 0.15%
Cazino Hotels 580,786 0.58%
Cellular Telecommunication 3,016,780 3.01%
Chemicals - Specialty 1,777,944 1.77%
Commercial Banks Non - US 20,034 057 19.97%
DistributionWholesale 3,155,462 315%
Electric - Generation 3,203,655 3.20%
Energy - Alternate Sources 1,963,037 1.96%
Finance - Investment Banker/Broker 1,733,631 1.73%
Food - Meat Products 518241 0.52%
Food - MiscellaneousDiversified 209 731 0.30%
Food - Retal 515310 0.51%
Gas - Dizstnibution 2,619,300 2.61%
Metal - Ahomimmm 473,333 0.47%
Miscellaneous Manufacring 3,513,887 31.50%
01l - Field Services 2,565,462 2.56%
Paper & Related Products 1,952,731 1.95%
Power Conv/Power Supply Equipment 4,511,666 4.50%
Real Estate Operation/Development 8,124 487 2.10%
Steal - Producers 1,301,130 1.30%
Steel - Specialty 1,773,320 1.77%
Warehousing & Harbor Transport Services 4,646,846 4.63%
Total Hong Kong
(Cost: US$ 112,033 .802) 96,355,162 06.08%
Total investment in securities
(Cost: USS 112,033,502) 96,355,162 96.08%

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these financial statements.
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CCMF LIMITED
CONDENSED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (contimued)

December 31, 2021

Sipmificant securities holdings with more than 3% of net asset value of the Fund:

Cost Fair value %o of

Company _ US§ _ Quamtity _ US$ net assefs
Airlines

China Southermn Airlines Co Ltd H Shrs 6,587,868 10,558,000 6,309,306 6.29%
Building & Construction - Miscellansous

China Commymications Constroction Co Ltd H Shrs 7,844,852 10,412,000 5,634,568 5.62%
Building & Construction Products - Miscellaneous

China Glass Holdings Ltd 819,870 8,896,000 1,973,581 197%

China Lesso Group Heldings Ltd 1,771,569 2,035,000 2,891,466 288%

West Chima Cement Ltd (FIESE) 1,936,688 11,250,000 1,976,456 197%

Zhejiang Glass Co Ltd H Shes 439 460 1,379,000 - -
Commercial Bemks Neon - US

Bank of China Ltd H Shrs £359229 16,200,000 5,879,162 5.86%

Bank of Commumications Co Ltd H Shrs 4 847,623 5,863,000 31,526,198 152%

China Construction Bank Corp H Shrs 7.9359%96 10,058,393 6,965 244 6.94%

China Minsheng Bankmg Corp Ltd H Shrs 6,833,458 9,651,280 3,663,453 31.65%
Finance - Investment BankerBroker

CITIC Securities Co Lid H Shrs 6,655,428 2,994,000 7,755,631 7.73%
Real Estate Operation/Development

Hang Lung Properties Ltd 2,300,910 £10,000 1,666,109 1.66%

Hon KEwoek Land Investment Co Ltd 688,042 2,254,000 855,578 0.85%

Eed Star Macallme Group Corp Ltd H Shrs 7991479 8,105,351 4,366,991 4.35%

Smo-Ocean Group Holdings Ltd 1,170,094 5,295,000 1,235,809 1.23%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(2023 )
95,827,430 12,853,333
95,920 12,866
95,731,510 12,840,467
203,340
470.80 63,148
2023 28 UFJ

=134.13
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2023
34

100,000 13
100,000

( 17.08 134.13 2023
28 UFJ
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HSBC 2023 28
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2022 12 31
2022 2021
9 1,009,827 17,248 1,303,505 22,264
10 33,982,285 580,417 37,044,405 632,718
4,095,879 69,958 5,402,208 92,270
39,087,991 667,623 43,750,118 747,252
11 168,481 2,878 175,509 2,998
38,919,510 664,745 43,574,609 744,254
38,919,510 664,745 43,574,609 744,254
12 5,773,600 98,613 5,773,600 98,613
33,145,910 566,132 37,801,009 645,641
38,919,510 664,745 43,574,609 744,254

2023 28

117/203



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 12 31
2022 2021

7,030,676 120,084 7,888,116 134,729

147,001 2,512 7,157 122
(2,606,013) (44,511) 1,877,025 32,060
(6,388,588) (109,117) (6,705,146) (114,524)
(2,838, 265) (48,478) (3,580, 268) (61,151)
(4,655,099) (79,509) (513,116) (8,764)
(4,655,099) (79,509) (513,116) (8,764)
(4,655,099) (79,509) (513,116) (8,764)
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2022 12 31
2021
5,773,600 98,613 38,314,125 654,405 44,087,725 753,018
(513,116) (8,764) (513,116) (8,764)
2021 12 31
5,773,600 98,613 37,801,009 645,641 43,574,609 744,254
(4,655,099) (79,509) (4,655,099) (79,509)
2022 12 31
5,773,600 98,613 33,145,910 566,132 38,919,510 664,745
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2022 12 31

2022 2021
(4,655,099) (79,509) (513,116) (8,764)
(447,677) (7.646) (478,857) (8,179)
(6,291) 107) (7,157) 122)
3,053,690 52,157 (1,398,168) (23,881)
(2,055,377) (35,106) (2,397,298) (40,946)
3,509,797 59,947 (862,401) (14,730)
293,678 5,016 (189,394) (3,235)
(7,028) (120) 6,554 112
1,741,070 29,737 (3,442,539) (58,799)
6,291 107 7,157 122
6,291 107 7,157 122
1,747,361 29,845 (3,435,382) (58,676)
5,402,208 92,270 7,439,422 127,065
(3,053,690) (52,157) 1,398,168 23,881
4,095,879 69,958 5,402,208 92,270
4,095,879 69,958 5,402,208 92,270

HKAS 7 44D
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2022 1 HKICPA
HKFRSs
HKFRSs
HKFRS
HKFRS 16 2021 6 30
HKAS 16
HKAS 37
HKFRSs 2018-2020 HKFRS HKFRS HKFRS 16
HKAS 41
HKFRSs HKAS
HKICPA
2022 12 31
2.4.
a
b
2.5.
FVTPL
FVTPL
FVTOCI
FVTPL
FVTPL
FVTPL
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2.10.
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2022 2021
7,030,676 7,888,116
6,291 7,157
140,400
400
147,091 7,157
7,177,767 7,895,273
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2022 2021
) (3,053,690) 1,398,168
447,677 478,857
(2,606,013) 1,877,025
2022 2021
960,000 1,440,000
4,077,385 4,374,288
66,883 65,467
123,000 123,000
2,000
383(1) ( )
2022 2021
2,224,820 2,229,391
19,500 36,000
2,244,320 2,265,391
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2022 2021
(4,655,099) (513,116)
16.5 (768,091) (84,664)
(24,204) (1,181)
792,295 85,845
2022 2021
995 1,245
3,834,285 3,041,741
3,835,280 3,042,986
2022 2021
570,202 645,318
439,625 658,187
1,009,827 1,303,505
30 2021 30
15 b
2022 2021
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10.
2022 2021
33,982,285 37,044,405
2022 12 31 30,000,000 2021
30,000,000 2023 FVTPL
2022 12 31
11.
2022 2021
45,481 52,509
123,000 123,000
168,481 175,509
30
12.
2022 2021
100,002
2021 100,002 5,773,600 5,773,600
1
13.
SFC FRR
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FRR
14.
2022 2021
a 7,030,676 7,888,116
b 1,560,000 2,280,000
b 260,000 380,000
a
b LPIL
130,000 2021 190,000 LPIL
15.
@
O)
(USD) @JPY) (RMB)
(HKD)  USD UsD Usd
HKD JPY RMB
2022 12 31 JPY HKD 10 2021 10  JPY JPY
« )
3,600 2021 4,200 10 2021
10 JPY
2022 12 31 RMB  HKD 10 2021 RMB RMB
« )

3,403,000 2021 1,484,000
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10 2021
RMB
)
2022 12 31 50
16,000 (2021 21,000 )
50
2021
()
76 2021 70
©
2022
168,481 168,481 168,481
2021
175,509 175,509 175,509
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Cape Asset Management Limited

BEREEHEARAT

Statement of Financial Position
Asat 31 Decem ber 2022

2021 2021
Mote HKS HKS
Current assets
Account and other receivables 9 1,009,827 1,303,505
Structured deposits 0] 31,982,285 37,044,405
Cash and bank balances 40095879 5,402,208
19,087,991 43,750,118
Current liabilities
Account and other payables 11 168,481 175,509
Met current assets IB919.510 43,574,609
Met assets 18219510 43,574 609
Financed by:
Share capital 12 5,773,600 5,773,600
Reserves 33,145,910 37,801,009
Shareholders' funds 38,919,510 43574 609

The financial statements were approved by the Boardon £ 0 /77 2023
and signed on its behalf by:

LO Pui Leétng KAM Pak Wah Franklin
Dhirector Director
-5
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEERRATE

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Note HEKS HES

Revenue 3 7,030,676 7.BEB.116

Other income 3 147,091 1157

Other net (loss)/gain 4 (2,606,013) 1,877,023
Staff costs (6,388 588) (6,703,146)
Other operating expenses (2,838.26%) (3,580.268)
Loss before tax 5 (4,655,009) (313,116)

Taxation 7 - -
Loss for the yvear (4,655,009) (313,116)

Other comprehensive income for the year - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year (4,655,000) (313.116)
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Cape Asset Management Limited

EAREEEFREAT
Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2022
2022 2021
Note HEKS HES
Current assets
Account and other recervables o 1,009 827 1,303,505
Structured deposits 10 33,982 285 37,044 405
Cash and bank balances 4095879 5,402 208
39087991 43,750,118
Current liabilities
Account and other payables 11 168,481 175,509
Net current assets 38919510 43,574,609
Net assets 38019510 43,574,600
Financed by:
Share capital 12 5,773,600 5,773,600
Reserves 33,145,910 37801000
Shareholders’ funds 38919510 43,574,609

The financial statements were approved by the Board on

and signed on its behalf by:
LO Pw Leung EAM Pak Wah Franklin
Director Director
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEERRATE

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Total equity as at 1 January 2021
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Total equity as at 31 December 2021
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Total equity as at 31 December 2022

EDINETOOOO
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Share capital Reserves Total
HKS HES HEKS
5,773,600 38314125 44,087,723

- (313,1186) (5313,116)
5,773,600 37,801,009 43,574 600

- (4,655,000) (4.,655,000)
5,773,600 33,145,910 38,919,510
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEERRATE

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
HES HES
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax (4,655,000) (313.116)
Adstments for:
Net fair value gain on structured deposits (447 67T (478,857
Interest income (6.,291) (7.157)
Net exchange loss/(gaim) 3,053,600 (1,398,168)
(2,055377) (2,397 298)
Decrease/(increase) in stmictured deposits 3,509 797 (862_401)
Decrease/(mcrease) in account and other receivables 293 678 (189 394)
(Decrease)increase in account and other payables (7,028 6,554
Net cash from/{used in) operating activities 1,741,070 (3,442 339)
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 6,201 1157
Net cash from investing activities 6,291 1,157
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,747 361 (3433380
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 5,402 208 7439422
Effact of foreign exchange rate changes, net (3,053,690) 1,398 168
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 4,085 879 5402208
Amalysis of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances 4,005,879 5402208

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The Company did not have liabilities ansing from financing activities during the year and durmg the preceding
year. Accordingly, the reconciliation of liabilifies from finaneial activities as required by paragraph 440 of HKAS
7 12 not necessary.

10 -
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEERRATE

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1.  General information
Cape Asset Management Limited 15 a company meorporated m Hong Kong with lomted hability. Its
registered office 13 located at Unit 3303, 33/F., Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong Eong. The
Company 15 a licensed corporation registered under the Securities and Futores Ordinance. The principal
activities of the Company are the provision of mvestment advisory and financial services.

The ultimate holding company is The Seven International Holdings (L) Limited, a company incorporated in
Labuan, Malaysia with linited hability.

2. Significant accounting policies

21. Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared i accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Finaneial
Reporting Standards ("HEFER.Ss"). which collective term includes all applicable individual HEKFE.Ss, Hong
Eong Accounting Standards ("HEASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HEICPA™), accountmg principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Compamies Ordinance. A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Company 1s set out below.

The HEICPA has issued cerfam new and revised HEFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting peried of the Company. Information on any changes in accounting
pelicies resulting from mitial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Company for the current and prior accounting periods reflected m these financial statements is provided in
mote 2.3

2.2, Basis of preparation of financial statements
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis, except
for certam financial assets which have been measured at fair vahae.

The preparation of financial statements m confornmty with HEFESs requires management to make
Judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates amd associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
aof which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Fevisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that peried,
or in the period of the revision and firture periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

-11-
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEERRATE

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.2, Basis of preparation of financial statements {cont'd)
Judgements made by management m the application of HEFR.Ss that have sigmificant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertanty are discussed in note 16.

2.3. The impact of new/revised HKFRSs
In the current year, the Company has applied, for the first time, the followng new and revized standards,
amendments and interpretation (collectively referred to as the "new and revized HEFES:") issuwed by
HEICPA, which are effective for the Company's financial year beginning from 1 January 2022, A summary
of the new and revised HEFRSs applied by the Company is set out as follows:

Amendments to HEFES 3 Eeference to the Conceptual Framework
Amendments to HEFES 16 Covid-19-Pelated Eent Concessions

beyond 30 June 2021
Amendments to HEAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment-

Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HEAS 37 Onercus Contracts - Costs of Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to HEFRSs 2018-2020 Amendments to HEFES 1, HEFES 9,

Tstrative Examples accompanying

HEFES 16, and HEAS 41

The amendments to HEFRSs and HEAS in this year do not have material impact on the Company's
financial performance and position for the cumrent and poor years and on the disclosures set out m the
financial statements.

Up to the date of 1ssue of these financial statements, the HEICPA has i1ssued a momber of amendments, new
standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2022 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements.

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the mpact of these amendments, new
standards and new interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application. However, it 1s not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the directors of the Company
completed a detailed review.
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEERRATE

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.4, Foreign currencies translations
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items meluded m the financial statements are measured nsing the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the functional cwmency). This financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollar ("HE$™). which iz the Company's fimctional and presentation
CUITENCY.

(b) Transactions and halances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gams and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated i foreign currencies are recognised m profit or loss.

2.5, Financial instroments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial labality
or equity instrument of another entity. A financial asset or a financial liability will be recognised when, and
cnly when, the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument At imitial
recognition, financial mstruments are accounted for at trade date basis and measured at fair value plis or
minus, in the case of a financial asset or finanecial hiability not at financial assats at fair value through profit
ar loss ("FVTPL"), transaction costs thereom. After imitial recogmition, financial assets and finaneial
liabilities are measured at fair value or at amortised cost based om their respective business models,
conitactual cash flows characteristics and classifications.

Finaneial assets at FVTPL

Finaneial assets other than those measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
mcome ("FVTOCT™) are classified as financial assets at FWVTPL. Financial assets that are classified as held
for trading or are designated at FVTPL at initial recognition for the purposes of aveiding accounting
mismatch are classified as financial assets at FVTPL too. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading
unless they are designated as hedges. After initial recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value prior to the dednction of transaction costs. Gains or losses anising from changes in fair value or
otherwise are recognised i profit or loss. Such gains or losses are presented separately from interest and
dividends.
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Cape Asset Management Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.5, Financial instruments {(cont'd)

Financial assets at amortised cost

Non-denvative debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective 1s to hold assets for
collection of contractual cash flows and have specified setflement dates with fixed or determimable
payments of principal and interest thereon are classified as financial assets at amortised cost. After imitial
recognition, financial assets at amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using effective mterest
method, less credit loss allowances. Imterest mcome together with gains or losses resulting from
derecognition are recognised in profit or loss.

At each reporting date, expected credit losses are recognised for mdividual or collective financial assets at
amortised cost in profit or loss. The amounts of expected credit losses are measured at the present value of
the difference between the contractual cash flows and the expected future cash flows.

Financial liabilities at amortisied cost

WNon-derivative financial liabalities with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market are classified as financial hiabilities at amortised cost. After initial recopnition, financial liabilities at
amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using the effective mterest method. All fmancial habilities at
amortised cost are classified as current hiabaliies unless the Company has a pre-defined repayment schedule
or an mconditional right to defer setflement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
peniod. Interest expenses are recogmised in profit or loss. When the bomowing agreement contams clause
that gives the lender inconditional right to demand repayment at amy time distegarding the pre-defined
repayment schedule, the financial liabilities at amortised cost 15 presented as a cument hiability in the
statement of financial position irrespective of the probability that the lender will invoke the clause without
cause.

Reclassification of financial assets

Fmancial assets, but not financial hiabilities, are reclassifiable when the business model applicable to a
financial asset or a class of financial assets has changed For the financial assets reclassified out of
amortised cost measurement category, their camying amount are restated at their respective fair value at the
reclassification date; amy differences are recognised m profit or loss (for those reclassified mto FWTPL
megsurement category) or other comprehensive meome (for those reclassified nto FVTOCI measurement
category). For the finamcial assets reclassified out of FVTPL measurement category mto FWVTOCI
mezsurement category or vice versa, they are contimued to be measured at fair value; cumulative gain or loss
previously recogmised im other comprehensive meome if amy, is reclassified to profit or loss as
reclassification adjustment. For the financial assets reclassified out of FVTPL measurement category into
amortised cost measurement category, their fair value at the reclassification date becomes their new gross
carrying amount. For financial assets reclassified from FVTOCT measurement category into amortised cost
measurement category, their camying amount will be adjusted as if they had always been measured at
amortised cost, the adjusted amount will be recogmised in cunmlative gain or loss of the financial assets
previcusty recognised in other comprehensive income. After reclassification, the reclassified financial assets
will be measured in accordance with the accounting policies of the new categories.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.5, Financial instruments {(cont'd)
Derecognition of financial assets
When the contractual rights to the cash flows from financial assets expire or substantially all the nsks and
rewards of ownership of financial assets are transfermred, the financial assets will be derecognised. The nghts
and obligations created or retained in the transfer are recognised separately as assets or liabilities. However,
if substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of transferred financial assets are retained, the
financial assets will not be derecognised. In this situation, the transferred financial assets will be recognised
in their entirety and the considerations received, if amy, will be recognised as financial labilities. In
subsequent perieds, income on the transferred finamcial assets and expense meurmed on the recognised
financial liabilities will be recognised in profit or loss separately. In the case substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of transferred financial assets are neither tramsferred mor retamed, the transferred
financial assets will be recogmised to the extent of the Company's confinnous involvement if the Companmy
retains control over the finaneial assets; otherwise, the financial assets will be derecogmised and the nghts
and cbligations created or retamed in the transfer are recogmised separately as assets or liabilities. The
difference of the carmying amount of the transferred assets which are gualified for derecognition and the sum
of consideration received (mcluding any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) 15 recognised in
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

When the obligation of financial liabilities specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires, the
financial liabilities are regarded as extingmished and are removed from the statement of financial posiion.
An exchange of liabilifies or substantial modification of the terms of existing financial liabihties are also
accounted for as an extinguishment of the oniginal financial liabilities. Gain or loss on derecognition of
financial liabilities is recognised mn profit or loss.

2.6. Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable iz based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
taxation as reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of items of
income and expense that are taxable or deductible m other years and items that are never taxable or
dedoctible. The Company's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of reporting period.
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Cape Asset Management Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.6. Income tax (cont'd)

Deferred tax is recogmised on temporary differences between the carrymng amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the comresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax hiabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available agamst which those deductible temporary differences can be ufilised. Such deferred tax assets
and hiabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and labilities in a fransaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference anises
from mitial recognition of goodwill

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner i which the Company expects, at the end of reporting peried, to recover or settle the camrying
amaount of its assets and liabilities.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
mezsured using the average rates that are expected to apply to the taxable profit or tax loss of the periods in
which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

2.7. Employee benefits
Salaries, anmual bonuses and other staff costs are accrued in the peried in which the associated services are
rendered by employees of the Company. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, provisions are made for the estimated liability as a result of services rendered by employess up to

the end of reporting period.

The Company joined a Mandatory Provident Fund ("MPF") scheme for its employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF scheme are held separately from those of the Company m independently administered
fimds. Under the mles of the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at rate specified in the rules. Contributions to the defined contnbution pension
scheme are recognised as an expense In profit or loss as ncurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.5, Government grants

Government grants are recogmised as mcome over periods necessary to match them with the related costs
they are mtended to compensate, on a systematic basis when there is reasonable assurance that the Company
will comply with the conditions attaching of them and the grants will be recerved A government grant that
becomes recelvable as compensation for expenses or losses already mcurred or for the purpese of giving
immediate financial support to the Company, with no future related costs, is recopnised as mcome of the
peniod in whach it becomes receivable. Govermment grants related to assets are presented in the statement of
financial position by setting up the grant as defemed income. Govermnment grants received before the
Tevenue recognition criteria are recognised as a liabality.

2.9. Revenue recognition

Peverme from contracts with customers is recognised by reference to each distinct performance obligation in
the contract with the customer. Fevenne from contracts with customers 15 measured at the transaction price,
being the amount of consideration which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring
the promised goods or services to the customer, net of taxes. The transaction price is allocated to each
performance obligation of each distinct good or service pronused m the contract. The basis of allocation 1s
that allowed by HEFES 15. Depending on the substance of the contract, revenue is recognised when the
performance obligation 13 satisfied, which may be at a point in time or over time.

Fund manager fee mcome 15 charged at a fixed percentage per month of the net asset value of the managed
accounts under management of the Compamy. The Company is also entitled to a performance fee when there
is a positive performance for the relevant performance period and 1t is recognizsed at the end of the relevant
performance period, when it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recogmsed will not ocour when the uncertainty associated with the vanable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

Income from financial services 1s recogmsed over time as services rendered.

Interest income 15 recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate

that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instnoment or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net camymg amount of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.10. Related parties
(@) A person or a close member of that person's fanuly, 1s related to the Company if that person:

211

®
()
(1)

has control or joint control over the Company;
haz significant influence over the Company; or

15 a member of the key management persomnel of the Company or the Company's parent.

(b} An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

®

()

(1)

()

)

(v)
(i)

the entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

both entities are joint ventores of the same third party.

one entity 1s a joint venture of a third entity and the other emfity 15 an associate of the third
enfity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Company
of an entity related to the Company.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

a person identified m (a)(1) has sigmificant mfluence over the entity or 1s a member of the key
management personnel of the entity {or of a parent of the entity).

Cloze members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person m their dealmgs with the entity.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial instimtions, and short term, highly ligmd investment that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insigmificant nisk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Company's cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the statement of cash flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.12. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event. it 15 probable that the Compamy will be required to seftle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The ameount recognised as a provision, inchiding those arising from the contractual obligation specified in
the service concession ammangement to maintain or restore the infrastructure before it is handed over to the
grantor, is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
reporting period, taking info account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its camying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits reguired to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it 1s virmally certain that reimbursement will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

2.1}, Trade receivables
Trade receivables are measured at mitial recognition at transaction price and subsequently measured at
amaortised cost using the effective interest method, less hifetime expected credit losses.

2.14. Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are measured at initial recognition at the far value (ncluding transaction costs)
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method

2.15. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occumence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Company. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised
because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation
cannot be measured rehiably. When a change m the probability of an outflow ccours so that ouiflow 1s
probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that amises from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occwrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Company. When mflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.16. Leases
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Except for the recopnition exemption, if applicable, nght-of-use assets and lease hiabihities are recognised
for all contracts that are, or contain, leases of identified assets at the commencement date of leases. Right-of-
nse assets are mitially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less accummlated depreciation
and mmpairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liabilifies. Lease liabilities are
initially measured at the present valoe of unpaid lease payments using interest rate implicit to the lease o, if
mndeterminable, lessee's incremental borrowing rates and subseguently adjusted with interest on and the
settlement of the lease liabilities, and the re-measurement arising from any reassessment of the lease

Lialities or lease modifications.

The Company has elected to recopnize lease payments for all leases with a term of twelve months or less; or
the underlying assets of which are of low value, as expenses on a straight-line method.

Depreciation is calculated nsing the straight-line method to write off the depreciable amount of each right-
of-use asset to profit or loss unless it is mcluded in the carrying amount of another asset. If the ownership of
the 1dentified asset will be transferred to the Company by the end of the lease term or the Company will
exercise a purchase option, depreciation shall be allocated over the estimated useful life of the right-of-use
assets; otherwise, depreciation shall be allocated over the shorter of lease term or the estimated useful life of

the night-of-use assets.

3. Fevenue and other income

The principal activities of the Company are the provision of investment advisory and financial services.

Fevenue and other income recognised durmg the year are as follows:

Revenue
Fund manager fee

Other income
Intersst income
Government grants
Sundry income

Note:

2022 2021
HKS$ HKS

7,030,676 7,888,116

6,201 1157
140,400 -
400 -
147,091 1,157

7,177,767 7,895,273

The govemment grants are granted by the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

4. Other net (loss)/gain

2022 2021
HKS HKS$
Net exchange (loss)gam (3,053,690) 1,398,168
Net fair value gain on structured deposits 447 677 478 857
2,606,013) 1,877,025
5. Loss before tax
2022 2021
HK$ HK$
Loss before tax is stated after charging:
Lease expenses
- Short-term leazes Q60,000 1,440,000
Staff costs (excluding directors' remuneration {note &)
- Salanes, allowances and benefits m kind 4,077,385 4,374,288
- Retirement benefit scheme contributions 66,883 65,467
Anditor's renmmeration
- Prowision for the year 123,000 123,000
- Under-provision in prior year 2,000 -

6. Directors' remuneration

Details of directors' renmmeration disclosed pursnant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordmance and Part 2 of the Compamnies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
are as follows:

2022 2021
HKS HES
Fees - -
Other emoluments
- Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,224 820 2229381
- Retirement benefit scheme contributions 19,500 36,000

2,244,320 2,265,391

L
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEERRATE

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

7. Tazxation

Provision for Hong Eong Profits Tax has not been made as the Company sustained a taxation loss during
the year (2021: M.

Mo provision for deferred tax has been made. Details of the unrecognised deferred tax are set out in note 8
to the financial statements.

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at applicable tax rates

022 2021

HES HES
Loss before tax (4.655,099) (513.116)
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.3%) (768,091) (B4.664)
Tax effect of non-taxable income (24.204) (1,181)
Effect on deferred tax not recognised 792,205 83,845

Tax expense - -

8.  Deferred tax assets unrecognised

Mo deferred tax assets has been recopmised due to the impredictability of future profit streams Deferred tax
aszets which have not been recogmsed in the financial statements are as follows:

2022 021
HKS HKS$
Deductible temporary differences 905 1,245
Tax loss 3,834,285 3,041,741

3,835,280 3,042,086

9. Account and other receivables

2022 2021
HKS$ HKS
Accounts receivable 570,202 645,318
Other debtors, prepayments and deposits paid 439 625 638,187

1,009,827 1,303,505

L
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g,

10.

Account and other receivables (cont'd)

The Company allows a credit period of 30 (2021: 30) days m respect of the accounts receivable ansing from
the business of provision of investment advisory and financial services.

The Company’s credit policy is set out m note 15(k).

The aging analysis of accounts receivable ansing from investment advisory and financial services at the end
af reporting period, based on the date of invoice was as follows:

2022 2011
HKS HKS
Neither past due nor impaired 570,202 643,318

Pecervables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a customer for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Structured deposits
2022 2021
HKS HKS$
Structured deposits, at fair value 33,982,285 37,044,405

The structored deposits are placed with a bank in Hong Kong, the retums of which are determined by
reference to the change i certain exchange rates quoted in the market The primeipal amount of the
structured deposits 1z RMB30,000,000 (2021: RMB30,000,000) as at 31 December 2022 which was with
maturity date m Jammary 2023. The structured deposits are designated as financial assets at FWTPL om imitial
recogmition. At 31 December 2022, the structured deposits were stated at fair values.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

11. Account and other payables

2022 2021
HKS$ HKS
Accounts payable 45,481 52,509
Accruals 123,000 123,000
168,481 175,509
All the acoounts payable are expected to be seftled within 30 days.
12. Share capital
2022 2021
HKS HKS$
Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares without par value
100,002 (2021: 100,002} shares
at the beginning of the year and the end of the year 53,773,600 3,773,600

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to
the Company's residual assets.

13. Capital management

The primary objectives of the Company's capital management are to safeguard the Company's ability to
continue as 3 going concem and to mantam healthy capital ratios m order to support its business and
maxinuse the shareholders’ vahoe.

The Company manages its capital strecture and makes adjnstments to it m hight of changes mn economic
conditions. To maimtain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amounts of dividend
paid to the shareholders, retum on capital to the shareholders or issue of new shares or repurchase of
existing shares as well as issue of new debts or redemption of existing debts.

The Compamny are licensed by the Securities and Futures Commmission ("SFC") and obliged to meet the
regulatory liquid capital requirements under the Secunities and Futures (Financial Eesources) Rules ("FER")
at all times. The Company ensures it maintains a liguid capital level adequate to support the level of
activities with sufficient buffer to accommodate for increases in liguidity requirements arising from
potential increases in the level of business activities. Durmg the financial year, the Company has complied
with the higuid capital requirements under the FER at all times.
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14.

15.

Related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Company
entered mio the following matenal related party transactions:

2022 2021
HKS HKS$
Fund management fee from a related find (note (a)) 7,030,676 TBER 116
Fental expense to a fellow subsidiary (note (b)) 1,560,000 2280000
Rental deposits to a fellow subsidiary (note (b)) 260,000 380,000

Motes:
(a) The management fee was received from a fund managed by the Company. The management fee is
calculated based on net asset value of the fimd.

(b} The Company entered into rental agreements with a fellow subsidiary, Lucky Plus Investment
Limated ("LPIL"). Pursuant to the agreements, the Company leased office premises and guarters
owned by LPIL at market rentals totaling HE$130,000 (2021: HE$190,000) per menth.

Financial risk management

The Company's activities expose it to a vanety of financial risks: market nsk (including foreign cumrency
nisk and cash flow and fair value mterest rate nsk), credit nisk, and Lgmdity risk. These risks are mitigated
by the Company's financial management policies and practices described below:

(@) Market sk
{f)  Foreign currency risk
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk through certain revenues and expenses that
are seftled in United States dollar (UISD), Japanese Yen (JFY) and Rennunbi (RME). As USD
15 pegged to Hong Eong dollar (HED), the Company does not expect amy significant
movements in the USDVHED exchange rate. The Company is mamly exposed to foreign
exchange nisk anising from firhwre transactions that are denominated in JPY and EMB. The
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2022, if JPY has strengthened/weakened by 10% (2021: 10%) against
HED with all other variables held constant, loss for the year would have been approximately
HE$3.600 (2021: HK$4,200) higher/lower, mainly as a result of forelgn exchange gain/(loss)
on translation of foreign currencies of assets and habilities. The 10% (2021: 10%%) represents
mana 5 assessment of the likely maximum change in JFY exchange rate over the period
until the end of next reporting period.

_5 .

155/203



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEERRATE

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

15.

Financial risk management

()

(b)

Market nsk (cont'd)

{1)  Foreign currency nisk {cont'd)
As at 31 December 2022, if EMB has strengthened/weakened by 10% (2021: 4%) agamst
HED with all other vaniables held constant, loss for the year would have been approximately
HE$3.403,000 (2021: HES$1,484,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gain/(loss) on translation of foreign currencies of assets and liabilities. The 10% (2021: 4%%)
represents management’s assessment of the likely maxinmm change in EMB exchange rate
over the period mmtil the end of next reporting period.

(1)  Cash flow and fair value mterest rate risk
The Company is exposed to mterest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on mterest
bearing assets. The Company's policy 15 to obtain the most favourable nterest rates available
for its deposits.

As at 31 December 2022, the loss after tax of the Company would have been
decreased/increased by approximately HE$16,000 (2021: HE$21,000) if the market interest
rate had been imcreased/decreased by 50 basis ponts with all other vaniables held constant. The
50 basis pomnts mcrease/decrease represents management's assessment of the likely maximum
change I interest rates over the period until the end of next reporting period. The analysis does
not take into account exposure to fair valoe interast rate risk ansing from fixed rate instruments
as the Company does not held any fixed rate mstruments which are measured at fair value in
the financial staternents. The analysis 1s performed on the same basis for 2021.

Credit nsk
The Company's principal financial assets is bank deposits and cash, stuctured deposits, account and
other receivables.

The credit nisks on bank deposits and structured deposits placed m banks are limited because the
banks are authorized financial institotions with high credit rating.

Fental deposits are placed with a landlord and are due to refund upon the expiry of the tenancy

agreements and handowver the leased prenmses. The Company has not experience sipnificant default by
the landlord

The Company's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. At the end of reporting period, the Company has a concentration of credit nsk as 76%
{2021: 70%%) of total account and other recervables which was due from funds managed by the

Company and a fellow subsidiary.

-6 -
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15. Financial risk management (cont'd)

(c)

Liquidity risk
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The Company regularly monitors current and expected lLiqmdity requirements to ensure that it
mamtains sufficient cash to meet its lqmdity requirements in the short and longer term.

The matunty profile of the Company's financial habilities as at the end of reporting period, based on
the contracted mmdiscounted payment, was as follows:

Total
contractual More thanl  More than 2
Carrying undiscounted Within 1 year vear butless years but less
amount cash flow orondemand than 2 years thanm 5 years
HES HKS HES HES HKS
022
Accoumnt and
other payables 168,481 168,481 168,481 - -
021
Account and
other payables 175,509 175,509 175,509 - -
(dy  Far value of fimancial nstruments

Fmancial mstmments measured at far value

HEFES 13, Fair value measurement categorises fair value measurements into a three-level hierarchy.
The level into which fair valee is classified is deternuned with reference to the observability and

significance of the mputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Lewvel 1 valuations: Fair value measured nsing onby Lewvel 1 mputs 1.2 inadjusted quoted prices
1 active markets for idenfical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

- Lewvel 2 valuations: Fair value measored using Level 2 mputs e, observable inputs which fail
to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable imputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs

for which market data are not available.

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

ST
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEERRATE

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

15.

16.

Financial risk management (cont'd)

(dy  Far value of fimancial mstruments {cont'd)
As at 31 December 2022, the Company held the following financial assets measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HES HKS HES HES$
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
- Structured depoaits - 33,982 285 - 33,982 285

Asz at 31 December 2021, the Company held the following financial assets measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HEKS HEKS HES HEKS$
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
- Structured deposits - 37,044 405 - 37,044 405

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no transfers of instruments between
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers mto or out of Level 3.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of other finanecial assets and
financial liabiliies recognised m the finaneial statements approximate to their far vales.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimsates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerming the fiture. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by defimition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant nisk of causing a material adjustment to the camying amounts of assets and hiabilities within the
next finaneial year are discussed below.

_28 .
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Cape Asset Management Limited
BAREEERRATE

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

16. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (cont'd)

(a) Impairment of trade and other receivables

The management of the Company estimates the amount of mpaimment losses for ECL on trade and
other receivables based on the credit nsk of trade and other receivables. The amount of the
mmpamment losses of trade and other receivables based on ECL model is measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are doe to the Company m accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discoumted at the effective mterest rate
deternmined at initial recognition. Where the future cash flows are less than expected, or being revised
downward due to changes m facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

(b) Fair value estimates
Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time and based on relevant market mformation
and information about the financial instroments. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve
uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore cannot be determined with precision.
Changes mn assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

-39
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HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited

2022 12 1.3 174

HSBC 1981 11 10

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited

2022 12 6.8 912
1974
plc
2004 11
2023
1990

2013 11
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HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Trustee
Cape China Fund

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Cape China Fund (the “Trust”), which comprise the statements of assets and
liahilities as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, and the related statements of operations, changesin net
assets and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial
statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Trust at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, and the results of its operations, changes in its net assets and its
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor' s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Trust and to meet our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free of
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financia statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern for one
year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free of material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’ s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance isa high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Therisk of not detecting
amaterial misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered
material if thereisasubstantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made
by areasonable user based on the financial statements.
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In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on atest
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s

internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonabl eness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, aswell as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern for areasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during
the audit.

Ernst & Young Ltd.

March 31, 2023

)
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of
Cape Asset Management Limited

(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financia statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Cape Asset Management Limited ("the Company™) set out on pages 7 to 29,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to

thefinancial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give atrue and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2022, and of itsfinancial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financia Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAS") and with reference to Practice
Note 820 (Revised), The Audit of Licensed Corporations and Associated Entities of Intermediariesissued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethicsfor Professional Accountants ("the Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsihilitiesin
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the

directors report, but does not include the financia statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility isto read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appearsto be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is amaterial misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors and those charged with governance for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give atrue and fair view in accordance
with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether

due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do

SO.

In addition, the directors are required to ensure that the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under
the Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Securities and Futures

(Accounts and Audit) Rules.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial statements and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Our
objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance isahigh level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financia statements. In addition, we are required to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Securities and Futures (Keeping of

Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.

201/203



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoOdnonoE23274)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Company'sinterna control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosuresin the financia statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to

cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficienciesin internal control that we identify during

our audit.

Report on matters under the Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and Securities and Futures (Accounts and

Audit) Rules of the Securities and Futures Ordinance

In our opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and
Audit) Rules.
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FTW & Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 April 2023

HO Cheung Kong

Practising Certificate Number: P05214

)

203/203



	表紙
	本文
	第一部ファンド情報
	第１ファンドの状況
	１ファンドの性格
	（１）ファンドの目的及び基本的性格
	（２）ファンドの沿革
	（３）ファンドの仕組み
	（４）ファンドに係る法制度の概要
	（５）開示制度の概要
	（６）監督官庁の概要

	２投資方針
	（１）投資方針
	（２）投資対象
	（３）運用体制
	（４）分配方針
	（５）投資制限

	３投資リスク
	４手数料等及び税金
	（１）申込手数料
	（２）買戻し手数料
	（３）管理報酬等
	（４）その他の手数料等
	（５）課税上の取扱い

	５運用状況
	（１）投資状況
	（２）投資資産
	①投資有価証券の主要銘柄
	②投資不動産物件
	③その他投資資産の主要なもの

	（３）運用実績
	①純資産の推移
	②分配の推移
	③収益率の推移

	（４）販売及び買戻しの実績


	第２管理及び運営
	１申込（販売）手続等
	２買戻し手続等
	３資産管理等の概要
	（１）資産の評価
	（２）保管
	（３）信託期間
	（４）計算期間
	（５）その他

	４受益者の権利等
	（１）受益者の権利等
	（２）為替管理上の取扱い
	（３）本邦における代理人
	（４）裁判管轄等


	第３ファンドの経理状況
	１財務諸表
	（１）貸借対照表
	（２）損益計算書
	（３）投資有価証券明細表等

	２ファンドの現況
	純資産額計算書


	第４外国投資信託受益証券事務の概要

	第二部特別情報
	第１管理会社の概況
	１管理会社の概況
	２事業の内容及び営業の概況
	３管理会社の経理状況
	（１）貸借対照表
	（２）損益計算書

	４利害関係人との取引制限
	５その他

	第２その他の関係法人の概況
	１名称、資本金の額及び事業の内容
	２関係業務の概要
	３マスター・ファンドの関係法人
	４資本関係

	第３投資信託制度の概要
	第４参考情報
	第５その他

	監査報告書

